A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

Ineffective assistance of counsel denied the appellant a fair trial. 

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error 

Defense counsel failed to propose lesser degree instructions despite 

his client's express wishes to the contrary. Was defense counsel 

ineffective for adhering to an all-or-nothing approach against his client's 

wishes and based on a misunderstanding of the facts and the law? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE I 

1. Procedural facts 

The State charged Bryce Huber and codefendants Brandon 

Chaney, John Sylve, and Danny O'Neal with premeditated first degree 

murder with a firearm enhancement, as well as conspiracy to commit first 

degree murder. The charges stemmed from the February 1, 2009 shooting 

of Steve Bushaw outside a West Seattle bar. CP 1-24. Sylve and O'Neal 

eventually pled guilty to lesser charges, and the State dropped the 

conspiracy charge. CP 63; 4RP 2; 8RP 3-4; 18RP 134-35. Huber and 

I This brief refers to the verbatim reports as follows: 1 RP - 5/2411 0; 2RP -
5/2511 0; 3RP - 61111 0; 4RP - 1118111; 5RP - 1119111; 6RP - 1124111; 
7RP - 1125/11; 8RP - 7118111; 9RP - 7119111; 10RP - 7/20111; 1IRP-
7/21111; 12RP - 7/25111; 13RP - 7/27111; 14RP - 7/28111; 15RP -
811111; 16RP - 8/2111; 17RP - 8/3111; 18RP - 8/4111; 19RP - 8/8/11; 
20RP - 8/9111; 21RP - 8110111; 22RP - 8111111; 23RP - 8117111; 24RP -
8118111; 25RP - 8/22111; 26RP - 8/23111; 27RP - 8124111; 28RP -
8/30111; and 29RP - 9116111. 
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Chaney were tried before a jury on the first degree murder charge. CP 63; 

16RP 10. 

Chaney testified, but Huber did not. 25RP 12. The jury found 

Huber guilty as charged but deadlocked as to Chaney, and the court 

declared a mistrial as to him. CP 101; 28RP 2-12. 

The court sentenced Huber to the high end of the standard range 

plus a 60-month firearm enhancement for a total of 380 months. CP 103-

10. He timely appealed? CP 112-13. 

2. Trial testimony 

Steve Bushaw left home shortly after 11 p.m. the night of the 

Super Bowl. 16RP 16-17. Before leaving, Bushaw told his parents he 

planned to meet a friend named Bryce at a bar in a part of West Seattle 

known as the Junction. 16RP 16-17 .. 

Earlier that evening, Brandon Chaney picked up John Sylve at 

SeaTac airport as a favor to friend and former roommate Sage Mitchell, a 

marijuana dealer. 18RP 113, 151; 25RP 19-20. 

Sylve had taken a shuttle bus from Yakima and had a long layover 

before a planned flight to Texas in the morning. 18RP 137, 144-45. 

2 This appeal was stayed pending Huber's motion for a new trial. The 
motion was transferred to this Court as a Personal Restraint Petition (case 
no. 69299-2-1) and the two cases have been consolidated by this Court's 
January 31, 2013 order. 
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According to Sylve, who testified for the State pursuant to a plea 

agreement,3 Mitchell asked Sylve to supply him with a gun. 18RP 138-39, 

144, 147. Mitchell wanted the gun for protection because he had been 

robbed and severely injured in his home two weeks earlier. 18RP 76-78, 

144. 

Chaney arrived at the airport with O'Neal and another man, 

Lonshay Hampton. 18RP 154. The men drove to a nearby barbershop 

that Chaney owned to wait for Mitchell, who arrived with his young 

daughter in tow. 18RP 159-60. Sylve offered to give Mitchell a revolver 

and ammunition. 18RP 159, 164. He and Mitchell had known each other 

since high school. Despite a past falling out, they had rekindled their 

friendship. 18RP 160-63. 

The four men next went to the Riverside Casino for drinks. 18RP 

164. Sylve spent some time inside the bar with Chaney and Hampton, but 

eventually took drinks out to Mitchell, who remained in his car with his 

daughter. 18RP 166. In the car, Mitchell shared some details of the 

robbery that left him injured. 18RP 167. 

The next stop was O'Neal's apartment. The men smoked 

marijuana while Mitchell's daughter slept in a back bedroom. 18RP 167. 

3 18RP 134-36; 19RP 70-71. The jury heard testimony that the State 
agreed to recommend a sentence of 230 months for second degree murder, 
and that Sylve could receive time off for good behavior. 19RP 127-28. 
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The men discussed the Super Bowl at first, but, according to Sylve, talk 

turned to the robbery. 18RP 172. Hampton, in particular, was "hyper" 

and stated he could not believe the robbers were going to be allowed to 

"get away with it." 18RP 173; 19RP 11. Mitchell informed the other men 

he suspected who had orchestrated the robbery.4 18RP 173; 19RP 16. 

Sylve testified that everyone was "on board for retaliation." 18RP 

173; 19RP 8, 10-11, 83-84. Retaliation, according to Sylve, was going to 

be a drive-by shooting. 19RP 21. The consensus was that Mitchell could 

not be involved because he was the robbery victim. 19RP 11. Mitchell 

eventually returned Sylve's revolver and left with his daughter. 19RP 17. 

According to Sylve, Chaney called an unknown person who knew 

the person suspected of orchestrating the robbery. 19RP 18. After the 

phone call, Chaney told the others the plan was a "go," and the unknown 

person would get the robbery suspect to a certain place at a certain time 

for the planned shooting. 19RP 18-19. Sylve watched O'Neal organize 

and wipe down ammunition for a semi-automatic handgun. 19RP 13-14. 

The four left in O'Neal's car, which Chaney was driving. 19RP 26,103. 

4 According to investigating police officers, the residents said the masked 
robbers were on the phone with someone who seemed to be directing the 
robbers where to look for valuable items. 18RP 14-15; 24RP 90. 
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The next stop was a convenience store. Huber, whom Sylve had 

not met before, arrived in a separate car and spoke to Chaney through the 

open car window for about 10 minutes. 19RP 28-30, 121. Sylve overheard 

Huber ask, "Are we really going to do this?" Chaney responded, "[Y]es." 

19RP 29-30. But Huber objected to the drive-by plan because he feared 

he would be injured. 19RP 31-32. The group thus changed the plan. 

Huber would get Bushaw, the man suspected of orchestrating the robbery, 

to go outside the bar, Talarico's, where the others would "take care of it." 

19RP 31-32. According to Sylve, the plan remained to shoot the suspect; 

Huber and Chaney never discussed a fistfight or a "beat-down" as an 

alternative. 19RP 32; 20RP 37. Huber told Chaney he would call him 

when Bushaw was going outside. 19RP 32. 

Chaney followed Huber's car and parked in a nearby lot that was 

connected to the street that Talarico's was on by an open passageway. 

19RP 33-34. Sylve, O'Neal, and Hampton surveyed the area while 

Chaney remained in the car. 19RP 36-37. Hampton was sent back to the 

car at some point. 19RP 40; 20RP 16. Sylve and O'Neal waited on a 

sidewalk across the street from Talarico's while Huber and Bushaw 

crossed the street to Bushaw's car. 19RP 38. 

Huber and Bushaw remained in the car for 15 minutes. 19RP 39. 

Eventually, Bushaw got out and began to cross the street. 19RP 39-42. 
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When Bushaw was in the middle of the street, Sylve asked him for a light. 

As Bushaw hesitated, Sylve and O'Neal fired on Bushaw at close range. 

19RP 44-25; 20RP 24. Bushaw spun around as if he planned to run to his 

car, then ran across the street to Talarico's. 19RP 47. Sylve shot once 

more as Bushaw ran toward the bar. 19RP 47,57. 

During the shooting, Huber remained on the sidewalk near 

Bushaw's car. 20RP 30. Before Sylve ran away, he heard Huber say, 

"You have to make sure he's dead." 19RP 47-48,57; 20RP 25. Sylve lost 

track of Huber after that. 19RP 49. 

Sylve slipped and fell as he was trying to run through the 

passageway to get back to the car. 19RP 48-49. He saw the bloody 

Bushaw on his knees near the Talarico's entrance. 19RP 52. After Sylve 

and O'Neal got back in the car with Chaney and Hampton, O'Neal said he 

feared they had missed Bushaw; Sylve, on the other hand, was more 

confident Bushaw had been hit. 19RP 52. 

Following a lengthy investigation, police arrested Sylve in Texas 

in December 2009. 19RP 66; 24RP 72-73. The other three co-defendants 

were arrested around the same time in the Seattle area. 24 RP 110. 

In addition to Sylve's testimony, the State presented the testimony 

Huber's friends who spoke to him before and after the night in question. 

Huber's friend Cara Anderson was visiting from Idaho the weekend 
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Bushaw was shot. 16RP 38. Anderson and a friend, Jennifer Razmus, 

made plans to meet up with Huber after the Super Bowl. 16RP 37-38. 

After the three met at Huber's condominium on the north side of Seattle, 

Huber drove the women to West Seattle in Razmus's car. 16RP 42, 46-47, 

79; 20RP 61. 

Huber used Anderson's phone frequently that night; he explained 

his phone could receive calls but could not call out.s 16RP 45, 50. 

Anderson overheard Huber arranging to meet someone at the West Seattle 

bar. 16RP 45, 50. Once at Talarico's, Huber and the women selected a 

booth near the back. 16RP 47. A young man soon joined them. 16RP 48. 

After about five minutes, Huber and the other man went out to smoke. 

16RP 50. They never returned. 16RP 50. 

Ten minutes later, there was a "commotion" at the front of the bar. 

The women eventually learned there had been a shooting. 16RP 50-52, 

69-70. Rather than returning to Razmus's car, the women called a taxi 

and returned to Razmus's residence. Huber returned Razmus's car later 

that night. 16RP 55, 82-83; 20RP 78-82. Huber visited Anderson in 

s Phone records indicate Anderson's phone made calls to both Chaney and 
Bushaw the night in question. 21 RP 102-22. Chaney also made a single 
two-minute call to Huber's own phone that night. 21RP 121-22. 
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Idaho within a few days of the shooting but never talked about what 

happened. 16RP 58. 

Huber's friend Joy Vanderpool lived with her parents in Arlington 

in February of 2009. 22RP 42. Vanderpool texted Huber after the Super 

Bowl to ask if she could stay at his condominium rather than driving 

home. 22RP 49. Huber didn't have his car but said she could stay over. 

22RP 50. They met near Razmus's apartment and drove back to Huber's 

condominium in Vanderpool's car. 22RP 52. 

Huber seemed stressed and distracted. 22RP 75. Rather than 

parking in his assigned spot, he parked down the block where he could 

observe the back entrance to the condominium. He told Vanderpool he 

was afraid people were after him. 22RP 54, 59. He later said he and his 

friends had "taken care of' someone and that the person had been shot but 

did not die. 22RP 63. 

Stephanie Cossalter, Huber's former roommate, lived in Pasco in 

February of2009. 23RP 120-23. Cossalter recalled Huber was upset after 

the robbery and assault at Mitchell's home; he blamed himself because he 

had introduced some named "Steve" to Mitchell. 23RP 125-26, 145, 149-

50. 

The day after the Super Bowl, Huber called Cossalter and told her 

he needed to get out of town and wished to visit her. 23RP 129. During 
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the visit, Huber said, "We took care of it." 23RP 149. He said he had met 

"Steve" for a beer and they sat on a patio at a restaurant. When Huber saw 

a car pull up, he told Steve it was time to go. Steve got "popped" as he 

walked out and Huber walked away. 23RP 129, 146. Cossalter and Huber 

later began a romantic relationship, but they eventually broke up and 

Cossalter contacted police. 23RP 131-40. 

Brandon Chaney testified and contradicted Sylve's verSIOn of 

events. He lived with Mitchell briefly and was also injured when 

Mitchell's home was robbed. 25RP 15-21. Although Mitchell suspected 

someone named "Steve," Chaney believed a former roommate who had 

been kicked out was responsible for the robbery. 25RP 21-22. Chaney 

was so frightened by the robbery he moved out of Mitchell's house 

immediately. 25RP 24. 

Chaney watched the Super Bowl at O'Neal's house. 25RP 25-28. 

He was looking to socialize and also contacted Huber about his plans for 

the night. 25RP 26. At some point that evening, Mitchell called and 

asked Chaney to pick up Sylve at the airport because Mitchell could not 

make it in time. 25RP 35-36. 

Chaney picked up Sylve but did not know he had a gun. 25RP 38, 

46-47. Chaney drove to his barbershop near the airport and Mitchell 

arrived shortly thereafter. 25RP 39-42. Sylve and Mitchell talked 
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privately in Mitchell's car. 25RP 44. Sylve and Mitchell spent more time 

alone while the others were inside the casino and rode together to 

O'Neal's house. 25RP 49-50. At O'Neal's, Chaney heard nothing about a 

retaliation plan. 25RP 55. Mitchell asked Chaney to take Sylve back to 

the airport later, and Chaney agreed. 25RP 55. 

Meanwhile, Sylve said he wanted to go out, so Chaney called 

Huber, who usually knew which bars and nightclubs were popular. 25RP 

55-56. Huber told Chaney he and two women were going to a bar in West 

Seattle. 25RP 55-56. En route, Huber called and said "Steve" was 

coming to the bar and he planned to ask Steve about his involvement in 

the Mitchell robbery. 25RP 59-60. Chaney told the others Steve was 

going to be at the bar. 25RP 60. Lonshay Hampton indicated he was 

eager to interrogate Steve, but, according to Chaney, no one else said 

much. 25RP 60. 

Chaney took the wrong exit off the West Seattle Bridge and got 

lost. After speaking with Huber again, they agreed to meet at 7-Eleven. 

25RP 61. Once there, Huber pointed out where the bar was and suggested 

where to park. 25RP 61. Huber confirmed the man he suspected of 

involvement in the robbery was going to be inside the bar. 25RP 62, 

After Chaney parked, the others headed through the passageway 

while Chaney remained in the car talking to his girlfriend and charging his 

-10-



phone. 25RP 62, 65-66, 68. Shortly after Hampton returned to the car, 

Chaney heard shots. 25RP 69. Sylve and O'Neal ran back to the car and 

ordered Chaney, "[G]o. Get out of here." 25RP 70. 

Sylve said they had shot a man, although, as Sylve also testified, 

O'Neal was skeptical. 25RP 71-72. Chaney was flabbergasted Sylve and 

O'Neal had shot the man, since Mitchell had already given the man's 

name to police. 25RP 72-74. Afterward, Sylve reminded Chaney he had 

to take him to the airport. 25RP 86-87. Leaving Sylve at the airport, 

Chaney told him, "[D]on't ever call me again." 25RP 86-87. 

Bushaw was pronounced dead at Harborview. 21RP 14-16. 

Further investigation revealed that "Bryce" was Huber. 24RP 26. 

Police arrested Huber a week later for driving on a suspended 

license and interviewed him regarding the Bushaw murder. 24RP 47-49, 

52. Huber disclosed he knew the police wanted to talk to him but he 

didn't come forward because he was scared. 24RP 55. Huber insisted 

Bushaw was not a friend but merely a coworker. 24RP 52-53. Huber had 

an article about the Mitchell robbery in his wallet at the time of his arrest. 

24RP 65-66, 14l. 

3. Discussion of lesser offense instructions 

After the parties rested, they discussed jury instructions. 25RP 

182-85; 26RP 43-86. The prosecutor noted that neither Chaney nor Huber 
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had submitted instructions for a lesser offense; the prosecutor asked that 

both defense counsel confirm that such omission was strategic. The 

prosecutor also said he would not object to instructions on second degree 

murder. 26RP 78. 

Chaney'S counsel, James Roe, confirmed that he and Chaney had 

discussed the matter and that Chaney did not want lesser degree 

instructions. 26RP 79. 

Huber's counsel, Tony Savage, disclosed his client wanted jury 

instructions for second degree murder and first degree manslaughter. 

Nevertheless, Savage explained he was not requesting the lesser 

instructions because if the State's evidence was believed, the crime was 

clearly premeditated. Savage went so far as to call the instructions 

"facetious," "unmeritorious," and "frivolous." 26RP 79-80, 83. The court 

did not instruct the jury on lesser offenses. CP 74-99. 

C. ARGUMENT 

DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR ADHERING 
TO AN ALL-OR-NOTHING APPROACH THAT WAS 
AGAINST HIS CLIENT'S WISHES AND BASED ON A 
MISUNDERSTANDING OF THE FACTS AND THE LAW. 

The federal and state constitutions guarantee the right to effective 

representation. U.S. Const. amend. 6; Const. art. 1, § 22 (amend. 10); 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 
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(1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). An 

accused receives ineffective assistance when (1) counsel's performance is 

deficient, and (2) there is a reasonable probability the deficient 

representation prejudiced him. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; State v. Aho, 

137 Wn.2d 736,745,975 P.2d 512 (1999). "A reasonable probability is a 

probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Thomas, 

109 Wn.2d at 226 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693-94). This is a 

separate question from whether there was sufficient evidence to convict. 

State v. Jury, 19 Wn. App. 256, 268, 576 P.2d 1302, review denied, 90 

Wn.2d 1006 (1978). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents 

a mixed question of fact and law that is reviewed de novo. State v. 

Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870,883,204 P.3d 916 (2009). 

The decision to forgo an instruction on a lesser included offense is 

not ineffective assistance if it can be characterized as part of a legitimate trial 

strategy. State v. Hassan, 151 Wn. App. 209, 218, 211 P.3d 441 (2009). 

The decision to request lesser offense instructions, however, is a decision 

that requires input from both the accused and defense counsel. State v. 

Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011); In Grier, the Supreme 

Court ultimately found counsel was not ineffective for failing to request the 

instructions on the lesser crime. The Court held that if counsel consulted 

with his client before pursuing an "all or nothing" approach, a court should 
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not second-guess that tactic. 171 Wn.2d at 39; cf. State v. Breitung, 173 

Wn.2d 393, 400, 267 P.3d 1012 (2011) (lack of showing of such 

consultation did not necessarily require different result from Grier, noting 

"there is no evidence in the record to show consultation did not occur"). 

An accused has authority to make certain fundamental decisions, 

such as whether to plead guilty, waive the right to a jury, or testify attrial. 

In re Personal Restraint of Jeffries, 110 Wn.2d 326, 333-34, 752 P.2d 

1338, cert. denied, 488 U.S. 948 (1988); RPC 1.2 (a). Although the client 

decides the goals of litigation and whether to invoke certain rights, the 

choice of trial tactics, the action to be taken or avoided, and the 

methodology to be used are matters within the attorney's judgment. In re 

Personal Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 735,16 P.3d 1 (2001). 

Here, Savage disregarded Huber's preference that the jury be 

instructed on lesser offenses. This is in itself problematic; Washington 

courts have characterized the decision to request an instruction as a 'joint" 

one. Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 39-40. It also distinguishes this case from 

Breitung, where the record was largely silent as to whether such consultation 

occurred. 173 Wn.2d at 400-01. 

But even assuming such complete disregard of a client's wishes is 

permitted, an attorney's refusal to request a lesser on legal grounds is 

justified only ifit is based on a correct understanding of the law. See State v. 
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Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 868-69, 215 P.3d 177 (2009) (failure to research and 

apply relevant law cannot be considered reasonable tactics). Here, it was 

not. Rather, the decision was based on the mistaken belief that a lesser 

instruction could not have been given because the State had presented 

evidence of premeditation. 26RP 79-80. Contrary to defense counsel's 

remarks, however, that was not the test. 

An accused is entitled to jury instructions not only on the charged 

offense, but also on all inferior degree offenses. RCW 10.61.003. An 

accused is entitled to such instructions if: 

(1) the statutes for .., the charged offense and the 
proposed inferior degree offense "proscribe but one 
offense;" (2) the information charges an offense that is 
divided into degrees, and the proposed offense is an inferior 
degree of the charged offense; and (3) there is evidence that 
the defendant committed only the inferior offense. 

State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 454, 6 P.3d 1150, 1153 

(2000) (quoting State v. Peterson, 133 Wn.2d 885, 891, 948 P.2d 381

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