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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. HUBER CAN SHOW NEITHER DEFICIENT 
PERFORMANCE NOR PREJUDICE FROM HIS 
ATTORNEY'S REASONABLE TACTICAL DECISION 
TO FORGO INSTRUCTIONS ON LESSER 
OFFENSES. 

Huber contends that his attorney, Anthony Savage, rendered 

ineffective assistance when he declined to request jury instructions 

on second degree murder and first degree manslaughter in spite of 

Huber's desire that he do so. Huber cannot prevail on this claim. 

Given the overwhelming evidence that the murder of Steve Bushaw 

was premeditated, counsel made a reasonable tactical decision to 

mount a direct attack on the credibility of Jonathan Sylve, the 

principal witness against Huber, in an attempt to gain an acquittal. 

Nor can Huber show a reasonable probability that the result 

of his trial would have been different had the jury been instructed 

on the lesser offenses. The factual support for the lesser offenses 

was weak, and the jury found the evidence presented at trial 

sufficient to support a conclusion beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Huber was guilty of first degree murder. Instructions on the lesser 

offenses would have altered neither the evidence nor the result. 
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a. Relevant Facts. 

I. Discussion of lesser instructions. 

During discussion of the jury instructions, the prosecutor 

noted that neither defendant had proposed any instructions on 

lesser included or lesser degree offenses, and he asked that the 

attorneys acknowledge that this was a strategic decision on their 

part. 26RP 78. The prosecutor added that he would not oppose an 

instruction on murder in the second degree. 26RP 78. 

Chaney's attorney confirmed that, after conferring with his 

client, he had decided not to offer any instructions on lesser 

offenses. 26RP 79. Chaney personally affirmed his agreement 

with this decision. 26RP 79. 

Anthony Savage, Huber's attorney, similarly declined to ask 

for instructions on any lesser offenses. Savage was clear on his 

reasoning: "If the State's evidence is correct, I can't think of 

anything being more premeditated than planning to shoot this fellow 

in Renton and driving to West Seattle to do it." 26RP 79. Savage 

added that "there's not a lesser included, in my opinion, in this 

case." 26RP 80. 

After brief discussion of closing arguments, Savage returned 

to the subject. 26RP 81-83. He told the court that his client would 
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like the jury to be instructed on murder in the second degree and 

manslaughter in the first degree. 26RP 83. Explicitly relying on his 

professional judgment, Savage declined to request such 

instructions. 26RP 83. 

II. Defense counsel's trial strategy. 

Mr. Savage's trial strategy in defense of Huber unfolded 

during his cross-examination of Jonathan Sylve, which was devoted 

to destroying Sylve's credibility. 19RP 116-37; 20RP 3-31, 45-47. 

Savage did this by focusing on Sylve's criminal history, on the 

"deal" Sylve had made with the State in return for a lesser charge, 

and on disparities between Sylve's statements to police and to the 

court that accepted his guilty plea and Sylve's testimony at trial. kL 

For example, going back in time to Sylve's high-school and 

early college relationship with Sage Mitchell, Savage asked, "And 

you and Mr. Mitchell had kept up your friendship by stealing cars 

and he was dealing in stolen computers?" 19RP 122. Sylve 

answered, "Yes." 19RP 122. Savage also forced Sylve to admit 

that his possession of a gun was "a violation of state and federal 

law." 19RP 126. 
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And Savage pressed Sylve hard on the "deal" he had made 

with the State: 

Savage: [Y]ou made a deal with the prosecuting 
attorney's office, correct? 
Sylve: Yes. 
Savage: And part of the deal was that you were to 
tell the police the truth? 
Sylve: Yes. 
Savage: The whole truth, and nothing but the truth? 
Sylve: Correct. 
Savage: Well, you just admitted to Mr. Roe[17] that 
you lied to the police once during that statement, 
when you told them that you 'd fired the gun? 
Sylve: Yes. 
Savage: Is the deal off now? 
Sylve: I do not know. 

19RP 123-24. See also 19RP 126-28 (Savage details the benefits 

Sylve gained from his deal); 19RP 129 (Sylve agrees that if he 

does not testify in accordance with the statement he gave to police, 

he would likely lose his deal); 20RP 6 (reference to "cementing the 

deal"); 20RP 31 (Savage: "Do you think you . . . still have your deal 

with the prosecutor now?"; Sylve: "I don't know."). 

Savage also forced Sylve to acknowledge inconsistencies 

between statements Sylve had previously given and his testimony 

in court. See, ~,19RP 131 (Savage: "You were mistaken rather 

than lying?"; Sylve: "I don't know how to put it. I don't know."); 

17 James Roe was Brandon Chaney's attorney. 1 RP 2. 
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20RP 23 ("Well, now what's true, what you told the jury or what you 

told the judge?"); 20RP 27-29 (disparities between plea statement 

and trial testimony); 20RP 46-47 (Savage: "Which is true, what you 

told the detectives or what you told the jury?"; Sylve: What I told 

the jury."; Savage: You mean you lied to the detective in putting 

this deal together?"; Sylve: Not lied, but was mistaken."; Savage: 

Mistaken. I see."). 

Savage continued to focus on Sylve during his closing 

argument, which was devoted in large part to attacking Sylve's 

credibility. Savage told the jury at the outset that "the fundamental 

bedrock issue in this case, as far as Mr. Huber is concerned, is do 

you believe Mr. Sylve beyond a reasonable doubt?" 27RP 113. 

Savage elaborated on that theme: 

If you don't believe Mr. Sylve, then you really have no 
case. A verdict of guilty means that each and every 
single one of the 12 of you who render a verdict 
believes in your heart and your mind and your 
conscience that Mr. Sylve is telling the truth, and you 
don't even have a reasonable doubt about it. That's 
how strongly you believe in what he has to say. 

27RP 114. 

Savage began his dissection of Sylve's testimony by drawing 

the jury's attention to instruction number eight, which cautioned 

them to weigh the testimony of an alleged accomplice with care, 
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and which informed them that they should not find a defendant 

guilty upon such testimony alone unless they were satisfied beyond 

a reasonable doubt of its truth. 27RP 114; CP 85. Savage then 

moved to a discussion of the "deal" that Sylve had received from 

the State in return for his testimony. 27RP 114-16. After detailing 

Sylve's criminal background, Savage argued that Sylve would 

certainly lie under oath if it was in his best interest. 27RP 116. He 

pointed out inconsistencies between Sylve's testimony and the 

physical evidence, as well as inconsistencies between Sylve's 

testimony and other, more reliable witnesses. 27RP 117-18. 

Savage then brought home his point that Sylve was the 

principal witness against Huber: 

[W]hen you get back to citing evidence against 
Mr. Huber, and I'm sure that you will, I would ask you 
to say, all right, who says so? And the answer is 
always going to come back to Mr. Sylve. Who says 
that Mr. Huber and Mr. Bushaw came out of the bar 
together? Mr. Sylve and nobody else. Who says that 
Mr. Huber and Mr. Bushaw went to the car and 
smoked? Mr. Sylve and nobody else. Who says that 
Mr. Huber and the victim exited the car together? 
Mr. Sylve. Who said the defendant said, make sure 
he's dead? Mr. Sylve. Who said that Mr. Huber was 
ever on California Avenue when the shooting 
occurred? Anybody say that except Mr. Sylve? 

27RP 118. 
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b. The Decision Is For Trial Counsel To Make. 

The Rules of Professional Conduct ("RPC") require a lawyer 

to abide by the client's decisions as to the objectives of 

representation, and to consult with the client as to the means by 

which the objectives are to be pursued. RPC 1.2(a). In a criminal 

case, a lawyer must abide by the client's decision, after 

consultation with the lawyer, as to the plea to be entered, whether 

to waive a jury trial, and whether the client will testify. ~ 

Trial counsel has wide latitude to control strategy and tactics. 

In re Personal Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710,732-35, 16 

P.3d 1 (2001) . "[T]he choice of trial tactics, the action to be taken 

or avoided, and the methodology to be employed must rest in the 

attorney's judgment." ~ at 735 (quoting State v. Piche, 71 Wn.2d 

583, 590,430 P.2d 522 (1967)). 

In State v. Grier, the Washington Supreme Court addressed 

the nature of the decision at issue here: "Part tactic, part objective, 

the decision to request or forgo lesser included offense instructions 

does not fall squarely within the defendant's sphere." 171 Wn.2d 

17,30,246 P.3d 1260 (2011). The court observed that current 

ABA criminal justice standards do not specifically allocate the 

decision to the defendant, but emphasize the importance of counsel 
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consulting with the client before making the call. hl:. at 31. The 

court concluded that "Washington's RPCs, as well as standards 

promulgated by the ABA, indicate that the decision to exclude or 

include lesser included offense instructions is a decision that 

requires input from both the defendant and her counsel but 

ultimately rests with defense counsel." hl:. at 32 (italics added). 

Other courts have reached the same conclusion. In Arko v. 

People, the Supreme Court of Colorado stressed the skill required 

to intelligently make the decision whether to request a jury 

instruction on a lesser offense: "[W]e conclude that the decision to 

request a lesser offense instruction is strategic and tactical in 

nature, and is therefore reserved for defense counsel. This tactical 

decision requires sophisticated training and skill which attorneys 

possess and defendants do not[.]" 183 P.3d 555, 558-59 (Colo. 

2008). See id. at 559 n.2 (citing cases from other federal and state 

jurisdictions that have also reached the conclusion that the decision 

whether to request a lesser offense instruction is reserved to 

defense counsel). 

Here, Savage appropriately consulted with Huber on the 

question whether to request jury instructions on lesser offenses. 

Then the attorney, relying explicitly on his professional judgment, 
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made the ultimate decision. This was a proper exercise of 

Savage's professional responsibility to his client. 

c. Counsel Made A Reasonable Tactical 
Decision. 

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to effective 

assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 

104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). The benchmark for judging 

a claim of ineffective assistance is whether counsel's conduct "so 

undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the 

trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 686. 

The defendant has the burden of establishing ineffective 

assistance of counsel. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. To prevail on 

such a claim, the defendant must show that: (1) counsel's 

representation was deficient, meaning it fell below an objective 

standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the 

circumstances; and (2) the defendant was prejudiced, meaning there 

is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would 

have been different absent the challenged conduct. ~ at 687-88, 

694. If the court decides that either requirement has not been met, it 
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need not address the other. State v. Garcia, 57 Wn. App. 927, 932, 

791 P.2d 244 (1990). 

The inquiry in determining whether counsel's performance was 

constitutionally deficient is whether counsel's assistance was 

reasonable considering all the circumstances. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 

688. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly 

deferential. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. "It is all too tempting for a 

defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or 

adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining 

counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a 

particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable." kl Every 

effort should be made to "eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight," 

and judge counsel's performance from counsel's perspective at the 

time. Id. 

In judging the performance of trial counsel, courts must 

engage in a strong presumption of competence. Strickland, 466 U.S. 

at 689. This includes a presumption that challenged actions were the 

result of reasonable trial strategy. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689-90. 

An appellate court will not find ineffective assistance of 

counsel where the challenged action goes to the theory of the case or 

to trial tactics. State v. Garrett, 124 Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 
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(1994). Courts should recognize that, in any given case, effective 

assistance of counsel could be provided in countless ways, with 

many different tactics and strategic choices. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 

689. "Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a 

particular client in the same way." kL. 

An instruction on an inferior degree offense is properly given 

where: 1) the statutes for both the charged offense and the 

proposed inferior degree offense proscribe a single offense; 2) the 

information charges an offense that is divided into degrees, and the 

proposed offense is an inferior degree of the charged offense; and 

3) there is evidence that the defendant committed only the inferior 

offense. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 454, 6 P.3d 

1150 (2000). An instruction on a lesser included offense is 

warranted when: 1) each of the elements of the lesser offense is a 

necessary element of the charged offense; and 2) the evidence 

supports an inference that the lesser crime was committed. kL. 

Like other tactical decisions made by an attorney at trial, "[t]he 

decision to not request an instruction on a lesser included offense is 

not ineffective assistance of counsel if it can be characterized as part 

of a legitimate trial strategy to obtain an acquittal." State v. Hassan, 

151 Wn. App. 209, 218, 211 P.3d 441 (2009). "Where a lesser 
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included offense instruction would weaken the defendant's claim of 

innocence, the failure to request a lesser included offense 

instruction is a reasonable strategy." State v. Breitung, 173 Wn.2d 

393, 399-400, 267 P.3d 1012 (2011) (quoting Hassan, 151 

Wn. App. at 220 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691 )). 

This Court recently evaluated a claim of ineffective assistance 

of counsel under circumstances similar to those presented here. 

State v. Mullins, 158 Wn. App. 360, 241 P.3d 456 (2010), review 

denied, 171 Wn.2d 1006 (2011). Like Huber, Mullins was convicted 

by a jury of first degree murder. 158 Wn. App. at 363. Like Huber, 

Mullins claimed on appeal that his attorney was ineffective for not 

requesting a jury instruction on the lesser offense of second degree 

murder . .!sl at 370. As in this case, there was "scant evidence" that 

the murder was anything but premeditated . .!sl at 371. 

This Court refused to find ineffective assistance of counsel 

under such circumstances: 

[I]t was not objectively unreasonable for Mullins to 
pursue a strategy of acquittal only. The evidence 
proving that a first degree murder occurred was very 
strong. The State was able to use Mullins' custodial 
statements about his "dream" to prove that he was the 
perpetrator of the murder. Mullins denied making those 
statements and testified that he was innocent of the 
murder .... If Mullins had tried to arguethat he was 
guilty at most of second degree murder, it would have 
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weakened his claim of innocence. We conclude 
Mullins has not carried his burden of establishing 
deficient performance by counsel. 

Mullins, 158 Wn. App. at 372-73. 

The defense strategy at Huber's trial was clear - attack the 

testimony of the only witness who directly implicated Huber in the 

plan to kill Steve Bushaw, 18 the only witness who placed Huber at 

the scene of the shooting, and the only witness who described 

Huber's role in that shooting as it unfolded. That witness was John 

Sylve, and counsel was clear about his strategy in arguing to the 

jury that "the fundamental bedrock issue in this case ... is do you 

believe Mr. Sylve beyond a reasonable doubt?" 27RP 113 (italics 

added). 

Moreover, asking for a lesser degree instruction on murder 

in the second degree would have undercut Huber's claim that he 

had nothing to do with the murder. Avoiding this danger was not 

ineffective. See Tinsley v. Millon, 399 F.3d 796, 808 (6th Cir.) 

(attorney's failure to request lesser instructions on manslaughter

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